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‘”advuneo for the nighﬁ. :
: Seventy-six yrinonsrs wcro eaptnred during the day's aporationn. ,
vOf these, 57 were taken by our 2md Bm. ‘The PW's identified the umits
facing us as the 103rd and 104th VGR, 47th VGD. They combtended
they had been holding Hockanheim and Reilinsen until ordered t@ ;
withdrww at 2000 hours of March Bl-ﬁ.‘ Qur PW roater now tot;lod
1527. ‘ : ‘ ‘ :
: Four road blocks ware encountered by our lst Ban at the northenn
edge of the woods south of Schwetzingen. Two blown bnd mined bridgea'

northweet and mortheast of Hockenheim were resorted by our patrols .

Continuing southeaatward on April 2md toward the communications
center of Heilbrcnn. CT-399 relieved elements of the 397th Iniantry
in the vicinity of Walldorf to permit that regiment o shift‘furtner
to the east. With"A"™ Co, 78lst Tk Bn, still attached to our Reg-
iment, our lst Ba closed into Waldorf and completed relief of the
397th Infantry at 1325 hours while our "G" Co reinforced elements
of our lst Ban gtill in Reilingen.

No contsct was made with the enemy, but five Krauts, stragglers
from defeated units, were btakem prisomers.

Contact lissomn was maintained with the 397th Infantry om our
left flank and the II Fremch Corps om our righbt.

At 2130 hours, our 2md Bm, mimus "G" Co, assembled in Rauemberg.

A Regimental CP was opened at Walldort at 2000 hours.

At 1545 hours of April 3rd, our lst Bn, motorized, left their
assembly area imn the vieinity of %nlldorf and proceeded to Btelns-
furt. They were followed by our 2nd Bm who had left Rau@nb&rg for
Wiealoch earlier in the day. The 2ad Bn now moved from Wiaaloch o
Sinsheim at 1630 hours.

7 At 1235 hours, our CP moved to Wiesloch. ;

Fmemy opposition still consisted primarily of delaying tactics.
Road blocks amd blown bridges continued to hempér the speedy ad-
vance of ocur Regiment while the enemy withdrew southeastward.

A second CP was opemed at Sinsheim st 1800 hours.

A% 0730 hours of April 4th, our Regiment comtinued the attack -
towasrd Heilbromm. Our mission today was the capture of Behwaiger!n,ij
Sehluchtern amd Grossgartach, west of Heilbromm while protecting. o
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April lnt, vhc begining of aur aixth month of sustained eombat,

~ found our Regiment firmly est&blished acroas the Rhino prepared to'

‘continue the attack southeastward. First Ohjectivos now were tho
‘towns of Ebekenhaim and Reilingen. ‘mere . wayntapn on our route to
thn importnnt induntrial and communications oity of Hbilbrann.
 As s prelude to our atliéck, our Cos “L" and "I" had relieved

~ elements of the 254th Infantry, 63rd Division, on positions south
of Briihl and west of Schwetzingen, the 63rd Division shifbing to

. a new sector on our own Division's left flank.

Then, pushing our offensive with all possible speed to prevent
the disorgenized Germans from recovering from their defeat west
of the Rhine, OT-399 left assembly urTeas in the vicinity of Brihl
and Schwetzingen snd crossed the LD at 0800 hours.

Qur Regimental plan of attack placed our lst and 2nd an in
the sttacking echelon with our 2nd Bn, whose objective was Hocken-
heim, on the right. In support of each of the battalions was a plat-
oon of tenks from Qo "A", 78lst Tk Bn. Both battalions were to pass
through our 3rd Bn, holding front line poaitions,,aftar which our
3rd Bn was to retire to Briihl from where they were to enter special
Corps duty.

In addition to capturing Hockenheim end Reilingen, our ﬂsginent
was to eetablish liason between the 397th Infantry on our left nnd
the 2nd Fronch Corps on our right. We were also to protect our
Division's right flank and rear. ‘

. Eraut resistance to our advance took the form of numerous rOad
blooks in the woods across our path and blown bridges Deapite
these obstacles, our troops pushed ahesd. By lo#a,hcurs. our 2nd
Bn, with “F" Co on the right, "G" Co on the left and "E" Co in
reserve, was in Hockenheim, and by 1530 hours the town had bean
completely clesred snd the objective secured.

Meanwhile, our 1lst Bn, moving forward with "C" Co on the rlght.
“B* Co on the left, and "A" Co in reserve, had occupied Reillngen.
"A" Co having cleared the town while Cos *B* and "C" were cleaning
out the patch of woods to the east of thelir objective. :

Kith both our objectives attained. C1-399 established outposts"
in a gemi-circle facing south and southmest and paused in vhair
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the Divi-ion'a right flank and rear. In tho mnanwhile. bha 598th
,‘.Infantry was to Cross the Neckar River and attack Heilbronn from S
~the morth in ccnjunction with tha 597#h Infanbzy. on our left flank.v,
who was to s’oorm the city fromthe west, v ; :

Leaving their assembly srea ab ﬁteinﬂfurt, our lst Ba, supportod 4
by the lst Flat, Co e 325th Engr C Bn. @ platoon of tanks snd
~ a platoom of TD's, moved v&a motor toward Gemmingen alomg the
highway to Sehwaigern. o oppoaihion was encountered until the
1st Bn hnd reached Gemmingen. Here the enemy made @ detenmlned
atand on terrain,ideallj‘suited for defemse snd commanding approuch=—
e8 to the towns and roads alomg our route. From a large woods to ’
the south, heavy mortar and artillery fire from,enemy emplacements
omn a hill 336 meters high withim this woods, begam to fall upom
our troops. ' '

Unable to proceed further by motor over roads which came under
perfect enemy observation, our lst Bm detrucked and with Co "AM"
leading and Cos "C" and "B" following in a colulm of companies,
advanced om foot, supported by the tanks. The attack moved slowly
over the opem, rolling terrain while the Krauts continued to pour
fire upon our troops from the high, wooded ground to the south and
- fought stubbormly to protect the abatis across the highway which
passed through-the,woods and continued to‘Hbilbrdnnfonly,Q miles
to the east.
~ Qur coordinated tank-infantry attack proved too much for the
~ enemy entrenched in the woods, however, and by 1305 hours our

~ spearheads had penetrated to the eastern edge of the forest barrier.
IOQen ground now lay between our 1kt Ba and the objective of Schwai-
gera, two kilometers further esst. Leaving Co "C" %o mop-up the
woods which were literally infested with Jerry mortar, artillery and
small arms positlions, "A" Co, preceded byva platoon of taﬁks, Tan
the gﬁuntlet of open grouand and by 1410 hdurs had reached the out-
skirte of Schwalgern,

At 1520 ours, Co "A" advanced imnto Behwaigern, rassing through
the town sgaimst only light resistamce from tbhe ememy at the east-
ern end. Co "CY, having cleared tkhe woods to the southwest in &
fierce actiom, joimed "A" Co im Schwalgerm at 1620 hours. Ome hour
snd ten mimutes later, the town had beem completely occupied.

Co "B", thereupon, returned to Gemmimgex tuv protens cur wight



‘,flank and rear. Thia was necensary since the French, on our. right |
. flank had been left far to the rear in the vicinity of Eppingen

by the rapidity of our advanee and our flank had become dangerously
'»exposed. : ' e
. TFollowing the lead of our lst Bn, our 2nd Bn, at 080‘7 e,
5 moved to a new assembly area in Ittllngen. At 1&05 hpurs,lour 4 nie
Co, suphorted by a platoon of hanks, began the. difficult operation
‘of clearing the woods north of Gemmingen. The task was completed
by 1530 hours and the 2nd Bn pushed forward toward their objectives
of Schluctern and Grossgartach. ‘

‘Heavy enemy artillery and mortar fire along the SchWaigern-Schlu-
chtern road from the woods bto the south where an estimated 200 Krauts
held positions, forced a change in the direction of our 2nd Bn's
thrust. Shifting to the north, the and'Bn-passed‘bhrough Massenbach
and hit Schluctern from the northwest. By 1730 hours,YSchluchtern
was firmly in our hands and "F" Co was entering Grossgarﬁach.

But the Krauts had no intention of giving up this important com-
munications and rail town without a struggle. Battling agalnst bitter
enemy resistance, "F" Go, still supported by the platoon of tanks,
was engaged in a torrid small arms fire fight for four hours before
the Jerries finally withdrew at 2206 hours, leaving us in possession
of the town. ' A s '

Puring the afternﬁen our CP was moved to Massenbaca, oPenlng
at 1715 hours. ; ‘ :

Twenty—six prisoners were captured from diverse units, increas-
ing our total to 1558 for 155 days of combat.

All elements of our combat team held up the advance on- Aprll
5th while awaiting further orders. ‘ '

Artillery concentrations were leveled at the woods south of
Schwaigsrn into which the Jerries had retreated when we had pried
them loose from that town. During the day, our outposts ebserved
forty Jerries at the edge of this wood and some accurate artillery
sniping by our 925th FA Bn killed an estimated 25 of their number.

Our I & R Plat, working in conjunction with patrols from our
2nd Bn, contacted elements of the 10th Armored Division at Bock=

WCON - -



raesgarﬁaah romdpf5”
1 fire fell in i
@anva&ifram  nemy mositlansr"‘

. our l$t and and Bn seetors during ﬁhe

“°<Ain the woads snuth of ﬁehwaigenn¢ pirf”~ff

. One hnndred and twenﬁy five prisénersg e“fEBeH%iﬂﬁ 54 enemy
,uuita, were aaptured on. this, aur lﬁﬁth day of combat. Gur~hetn1

P grabébag>was now 1683,

," Still eﬁtrusted with the misalon of pretecting the Biviaion's .
right flank and rear on April 6vh, CI-399, minus our. Erd Bn.mepped— i
up the remalning enemy held territory in our aecﬁur and muved to '

positions nearer the river. in praparatlon for a ornsalng an Divisu:'f
ion order. Our Zrd Bn, detailed on April 1lst to. duty as Garps guardsf}
and occunatian troops within the Gnaps area; r&mained on Garpﬂ duty.]=

At 0045 hours of April 6th, our lst Bn 1eft Eahwalgurn andAmeved o
eagt via shuttle to Bockingen, directly across the rlveg fram the ity
Division objective of Heilbronn. L ot

Once our 1lst Bn CP had been established in Boekingen, our Go “A“
took up positions adtride the double-track railroad passmﬁg araun&
the southern end of the town while "C" Co deployed to the nertheast
along the western bank of the Heckar. "B" Co, placed in reserve
in Boaklngen, dispatched a combat patrol anplanaan strength,at 1300
haurs to clear the area om "C* Go's lefv flank betw&en ﬁhe aauthann %
end of the Kenalhafen Ganal and the river. The Patrol eambea the - |
ares but could find no trace of the enemys S

During the afbernoon, elements of the 597th Infaatry, hnlﬁing
positions on the east bank of the river, reported having maae ‘con=-
tact with the enemy fortified in houses within HEilbrﬁnn.qnd,pn i
high gfeund to the east and southeast of the city. Accérdiﬁg&?}‘our
oM Co was attached bto the 397th Infantry atb 1515 hnurs a8 adﬁiﬁlon~'
al support, relief being effected at 1745 hours after Co “B“ had
relieved Co "¢" on position. g

A patrol from our "A" (o, sent to reconnoiber the weat baﬁk'of"
the Neckar River oyuposibte Sontheim, made no contact with the Jerriesf‘
but drew observed machine gun cross-fire from the . east bank ef the i




.river. Ona of our men wﬂs waunded.. s ' ] .

Jarry artillery and mortar fire frnm high sraund aaat af the
river was modernte throughout the perdod with,mast of the mholls
 £&111ng around the apﬁIOHOhBE to the blawn bridge 1n cur Co "G”
, nceter. '

: ' Eiﬁhtenn Jarry atragglers were ‘added to our Pw lint. 1nereasing s
'”;Tour‘tatal to 1716. ; ‘ : ;

At 1500 houru, & new CP wns open&d én Frankanbach.‘

, cantinuing our rale of protectors of the Diviaion'z right flank
and rear while aparationa were preceeding along the right bank of
the Neckar River, CT-399, less our 3rd Bn and minus our "C" Co,
dttached to the 397th Infantry, remsined in previously'ast&blishod‘
positions through April 7th.

Sporadic enemy artillery fire fell in,aur "B" Co sector and our :
lst Bn outpostamwere subjected to snipar fira from the ri@ht bank
of the river throughout the period.

Our artillery fired a total of 494 rounds during the period,
comprising eight troop missions and one tank migsion.

81x more prisoners were rounded up on the west bank of the river.
A breakdown -of prisoners captured by our combat team since our

Jump~off from Reyersviller on March 15th, showed 396 captured by
our 1st Bn, 260 by our 2nd Bm and 56 by our 3rd Bn (én Corps duty
since April lst), with 220 compiled by all other elements for a
total of 932 in 23 days and 1722 in 158 days of combat. ,

A% 1130 hours of April 8th, our lst Bn, less "O" Co, still
attached to the 597th Infantry, bagan to move BCrO8s. the Neckar
River with the mission of protecting our single pontoon bridge from
possible enemy attacks from the south und eagb.

"B" Co was the first to reach the east bank of the river. taking
up positions in the southwestern end of Heilbronn, followed by "ar
Co who dug-in on "B" Co's right flank. The operation was concluded
at 1545 hours with our "C" Co, released from control of the 397th
Infantry at 1445 hours, joining our 1lst Bn in positions on "B" Co's
left flank. i

To £ill the gap left by our lst Bn on the wesat bank of ﬁhe_rifer

and protect the crossing site on that side, our "E" Qo moved;from o
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’}".mhwaigem and b 1200 houm w@ﬁ over poai:bioas praviauuly hald

“ “ by Co "3" whila "6" (3 ut 1&15 houra. ansumcd renpanaibiliﬁy for
. the nactor vacated by Go "A", Co "F" rumained in pr@viaus positions

'4n Grossgnr@nah. sendins one plataan tc ﬂehluchtarn aa addad.pro-'

' tection to our rear end right flank.

Aehien wunn‘t 1ang 1n eoming ta ourkist Bn. As soon as WA“ F*ﬂ“
"G“‘Gon were in positian, our 1st Bn lnunuhsd a.limited attack '

,in.an atfart to enlargo their bridgehead and botter their pa&muiens. :

Th« attack had barely gotten under way when "B" Go intercepted a
‘;grvup of 15 Jerries moving north from Suntheim and led by & llark IV
taak. ?ho Krauts, obviouuly unaware that we had crossed the river,
walked right into our hands. In the meleo which énsued, 12 Krnuts
were killed, three captured. and the tank was knocked—aut by well
directed bazoak& fire from two "B" Co men.

Two more Krauts were killed by shell-fire from one of our SP's
which alipyed up on the flank of two squads of eremy dug-in along
the highway while they were occupled in beating off our lst Bn
attack. : ;

At 1800 hours, two platoons from "E" Co, supported by two medium
tanks from the lst Plat, Co “A", 7813% Tk Bn, moved northward with
the mission of clearing the triansiﬂ of land formed by the river

”ﬂ Canal, Sniper fire from that area had ‘been grow-
ing in intansity and our ordsrs were to clesn out the arves completiely
of civilians as well as enemy trmop- and block off the land triangla.

var 300 civilisns were rounded up before the migssion Was eompleted.r

Enemy artillery and multi-barrel morter fire was ounaider&blx 2
heavier than on the previous day. Particularly large concentrations '
were fired abt our pontoon bridge which was finally dswtraxad by a
direct hit from a 150mm shell, foreing us to rely wholly upon ferry-‘
ing supplies across the Neckar. : : :

A n enemy counter-attack against our lst Bn's bridgehead posi-
tions at 1731 hours, was beaten off with small arms amd 50 cal
mgchine-gun fire.

Fovty-uight prisoners were tallied for the period, increaaing
our Regimental PW total to 1972. Mi's were from the lst, Sth, 6Uh
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and 1l4th Cos, 223rd VGR, lﬁth VGD. They raVealed thair mission

as being to hold the Neckar Rﬁver line "to the last man" and pre—'
vent us from cr0531ng. Capﬁure of Heilbrenn would open the doors

to the Neckar ‘River Valley and & continuatlon of our drive south—\‘
esst toward Stuttgart or Junich. The enemy was golng o stop ‘that i
~ drive if he could.

March 9th found the enemy stlli cllnging grlmly to Hellbronn.i
Our advance had beem slowed by a houne-to-house battle in which
every room had to be cleaned oub before we could advanca a few

~ yards to the mext buildlng.

The enemy's fromt linme con31sted of a series of strategically
91tuated houses in the goutherm enedof town with an MLR extendimg
' from Hnrkheim northeast along the road paralleling the river to
the northern end of Somtheim. From here it eurved southeast to
Flein and then continued eagtward alomg high ground and through
the large woods from which his artillery had beecn shellimg our
pogitions. According to PW reports, at least ome Companmy of B8
troops, supported by three Koenigstiger taaks, was dug-in along
this line between Sontheim and Flein. This was in addition o
12 known companies of regular Grenadier troops in the line defend-

ing Heilbromn.

Despite the destruction of our pomtoom bridge, we continued mak-
ing satisfactory progress in gebting persomnel, btanks and other
equipment across the river on a pomtoon ferry-boal constructed by
our Englneers.

At approximately 1730 houra, our lst Bm, with "A" amd "B" Cos im
the attacking echelon, sup orbted by tanks, launched a 11mited attack
goubhward in an effort to better our positions and drive tue enemy X
from buildings from which he had been sniping at our tPOOPb- The
Krauts met this threat with about 50 round& of 105 mm and. 150mm
artillery, oP, bazooka and small-arms ‘fire. But by 1800 hours, both
wA" gpd "B" Cos had advanced through about 200 yards of houses and
captured 50 prisoners in bétter houge-to-house fighting.

Wegt of the river, our 2ad Ba established contact with elements
of the 824th TD Bn Bcm Plat at the road-junction marked by grid
506786296 near the morthwestern edge of Heilbromn. |
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\ On April lObh, armor and mortar reinfOrcaments began to nrrive
on tne east bank of the ﬁeckar to bolster the hnrd~preased line

”  troops. Heavy enemy shelling still prevented the construction of

a bridge by our engineers. Bub at 0630 hours, a motor powered pon—"
toon assault ferry cap&ble of transgarting a tank. was plaaed in
eperation. Bes 1130 hours, @ platcon of tanxs from the 7alst TK Bn
snd a ylatoon of TD§ from Co “A™, 824th TD Bn, in addition to sn
8lmm mortar platoon,Ahad been carried across the river. Our 1lst Bn,
grestly strengthened, resumed their drive %o the southesst.

At 1310 hours, & raiding party from Co "A"™ moved aouthaast
‘@seross the highway and trolley tracks leading %o Bontheim with the
mission of clearing the approaches te the formidsble enemy military
barracks, capture of which would open the way to the wooded high
ground beyond. The Krauts had been wreaking havoc on our bridge-
head with their observed artillery wand mortar fire from this wooded
vantage point snd it was of paremount importance that the enemy be
cleared from these positions before our bridgehead could be called
secure. ' ;

The raid was a difficult one. The Jerries literally clung to the
cornerstones of every bullding and had to be pried out of their
miniature fortresses in bitter house to house Lfighting. Nebelweri-
ers, 88mm, 105mm and 150}; obgerved fire rained down upon our men
 from the enemy's positlohs on high ground to the southeast. Des~
pite this fierce resistance,. however, by 1500 hours the last row
 of buildings had becn cleared and "A" Co had moved %o positions 7
; about one kilometer ¢ ast of the barrmcks. Thirteen prisonern were
captured during this operation.

At 1700 hours, "C" Qo moved turough "g" Co, occupying pcsitlana
on. "™A" Go s left flank, and continued ‘the advance southeastward,
gaining 200 yards by 1800 hours and capturing an additional 15
prisoners at a cost of two men wounded.

The Air Corps aided by giving the German garrison buildings to
the southeast of our front lines a thorough going over. A number
of direct hits were observed by our let Bn and exceilent results
were reported. ' : -

OQur Cannon Co fired 97 rounds with emphasis on what our S~-2

reported to be the enemy MLR between Sontheim and Flein.
a .




Im@aui, 74 priscners were caytured'during tha day'a operations.,
“he & 4, Lrimarily from the lat, Sth. and Gth Gos. 225rd VGR. i
ruisec .o total PW bag to 1846. '

Ous di-=zion remained bhe suma on April llth- to pretect ths Biva'
ision = =»iznt flank and rear and defead our bridge—site across the
ﬁ%ckﬁ’i;ﬁﬁm vogsible enemy*att@cks from the south and southwest. In

the procies, our let Ban was to make every affort Yo widen our bridge~f

nead sn  ueh south and southeast toward Sontheim, the Schlieffen
Barracks azd enemy held high ground to the east. R

Under covar of early morning darkness. our 2nd Bn. 10:9 two plat—
sens Tron U3 Co, two platoons from "B Co, one macnine-gun section
and ons o tir section from "H"™ Co, moved from assembly areas in

Besluct-r, Jrossgarbach and Bockingen to Biberach to'act_és a mobile

Divisiin reserve. A% 1100 hours, the two "Eﬁ Co platoons left their
cerilofous on the west bank of the river and jolned the 2nd Bn in
Biberscr, closing at 1200 hours. One platoon from "G" Co and the

MOTLIL - wucoine-gun sections from "H" Co followed at 1400 hours.
ne ..o oo drom G Co remained on the west bank of the river to

srotect toe crossing site. They established an outyast line to in-
c.ude v . LM Qo positions.

1 hours, elements of Co “G" movad eastward in a successiul
atvine . cic:s the Hellbronn-Flein highway. Five blocks of nouses
weore coo vod of Krauts before the "C" Co men halted their advance.
nuvine - lred poasltions due north'oflthe Sahlieffen‘Barraeka;”
Trzoeno vy relied heavily-upon artillery and mortar fire to slow
: inee snd prevent reinféroemenﬁnffrom'pouringjaaross,tho :‘>
Neczer., -coket.fire and lOSmmnartilléry,firplfali_cdﬁsiatenhly upon
our-i -rr sit2 and our front line traopﬁ‘wére‘under concentrutedﬂ
: , Lodmm and 210mm shelling during the entire period. The
viever, seemed incapable of launéhing a sustained counter-

.7e than company strenghh. His defense was confined to

cort ot tish ground designed primarily to slow our advance. Bub
¢ivn tae o Tries picking the spots and our troops forced to follow
and cls o “uem ouk, our progress was slow and costly. 7‘7

din-or-roar Krauts were teken prisoners. The Fl's were made up
of =ooto o zlements which had been shattered in previous actions

snd hal nesn combined into nmew units. One of these'compmniegg thl
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Battalion Wagensee, compriaing 20 men. WRE entiraly 1iquidated

after a raid agsinst our lst Bn in which all 20 men including the T

CO0 were either killed or captured. ‘ :
Despite the enemy £ efforts to prevent us from reinforcing our_

1st Bn on thp right bank of the Neckar and conrinuing our attack o

southward. our 2nd Bn, releaaed from Divisiun reserve, began the
difficult Operation of cro&ains the river at 0515 honrs of April"
12%h. o '
lMoving from their assembly area.in the‘viCintyfof Bibéraéh;
with one’ platoon of tunks and one platoon of TD's in support, the

2nd Bn passed through Frankenbach and Beckingan‘to reach the ferryj'

site just as dawn was lighting the eastern bank of the river. Then,
while the tanks and TD's were shuttled across the water barrier on
the pontoon ferry, the infantrymen swarmed scross to the opposite
bank in asé#ult boats and raits. By 084) hours, the crossing had
been compLeted and the 2nd Bn moved into an assembly area ab giiﬁ

3078608 in the southern end of Heilbronn One half hour latver, "E®
Co had relieved "A" Co on positions gained the previous afterncon
north of the German ggrriuon

In the interim, our lst Ban had launchea their attack again&t

the Schlieffen Barracks at 0815 hours. With “B" Co spearheading
the asssult on this strongly held enemy position, our lst Ban moved

gouth through "A" Co's positionsg in an attempt to take the garrison

from the morth flank. The "B" Co men rapldly cleared the last few’
blocks of houses on the southern outskirts of Heilbronn wnd crossed
the ID a few moments later against only moderate smull arms resist-
ance. By 1025 hours they had occuplied a 1ine of tremches enly 150
varde from the northern edge of their objectlve Butb here eremy
resistance stiffened considerably and twenty minutes aitgr ré&cning

the trenches, "B’ Co was engawed in the flercest fire fight we had

experienced since crossing the border into Germany.

By 1300 hours, it became apparent that the eneny, unless routed

from the garrison by direct assault. would hold their positmonﬂt
indefinitely. Followed by "C" Co, and supported by tanks and TD's,
"B" Co began to move south in the face of the enemy's fire. The

Jerries threw everything in their arsenal at the "B" o men ié"they'
advanced over the few hundred,vards of open ground 1n a well caord-

inated tank-infantry attack. Artillery T0T%g, 8P, maﬁur and small*



 arms fira cut down gome of the lst Battallonitea. But tho remainder £

- continued the aasault. Fighting from' building to building "B" Go

~ had occupled the northern half of the garrison by 1400 hours amd
by 1540 hours the lst Ba wag in pcssesaion of SGhliaffen Barracks A

~ and had aeized their dbjective.
~ With their left flank cleared, our 2nd Bn. led by “F“ Go and
with "E" and "G" Cos following, launched an attack on the town of
- Sontheim st 1630 hours. Moving south wikth a platoon of tanks and
& plastoon of TD's "F" Co had esdvanced to the northern outskirts
of Sontheim against light o. jposition by 1900 hours. ﬁut after
oledring a few blocks of the town, the enemy showed his hand. From
& factory building which the enemy had converted into a fortress,
- @evere small arms, subtomatic weapong and SP fire stopyed our troops
cold. An attempt to encircle this enemy resistance from the west
was frustrated by a road block.

~ The fight for Sontheim continued under artiticial moonlight
long after dsrkness had thrown a protective martle over our troope.
Inching ahead, our troops finally overcame the fanatical enemy re-. -
sistance in the factory and by 2215 hours had reached the center

of the town. Here the advance was again halted when the enemy un-
leashed a terrific artillery barrage combined with raking muchine
gun fire from every road vantage point.

. There was no sleep for the tired 2nd Bn fighters that nlgnt.
With "E" Co on the, left flank, "F" and "E" Cos, iollowing an artil.
lery’preparation. resumed the attack against an estimated 200-250
Kraute still holding the southern half of Sontheéeim st 0540 hours
of April 13th. The Krauts eontinusd their stubborn resistance. but
with two conpsnies driving through the town abreast, our wikight
began to tell. By 0512 hours, "E" Co had overrun the Sportplavz

in the southern part of town and had cleaned out the Wilhelmsruhe
to the southeast against heavy machine-gun opposition by 0830 hours.

"I Go, movxng parallel to the river, advsnced along Heilbronner

Strasse to Adolf Hitler Strasse, clearing the town on the wegt, Ey
0940 hours, Sontheim had been fully occupied, the remaining Jerries
who had not been killed or captured retreating southward. Midday
found an "F" Co patrol probing the outskirts of Horkheim, one kil-
ometer to the southwest.
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; At 1500 hours, "G" Go, who had been relieved from attachment
'to the lst Bn at 1200 heurs, advanced on Horkhelm with the infann‘

,,try mounted on tanks., Flanked to the east by "E" Co's advance south;f

of qontheim, the Krauta relinquished Horkheim without & struggle
and "an Co had fully occupied the town by 1315 haurs. ;

: Giving the enemy no respite. our 2nd Bn continued to yush thair
‘attack. Supported by tanks, "E%;Co rapidly overcame weak enemy re-
sisbance one kilometer south of Sontheim at 1400 hours. Then, toam~
ing with "@" Qo on their right flank, both Cosg pivoted soutneast :
at 1515 hours to seize the high ground dominating sontheim. Advan-—
cing steadily despite heavy enemy artillery fire and an S-mine
field encountered by "E" Co at grid S065565, "G" Co was 1700 yards
south of Horkheim by 1800 hours and "E" Go had reached positions
at grid 80756. : :

A% this point "G" Co encountered three enemy pillboxes similar
to those we hal come up against in the Biegfried line. These pill-
boxes met the same fate as the rest of the vaunted Siegfried and
by 2100 hours "E" and "G" CQos had Jjoined forces a proximately one
mile northwest of Talheim.

While the 2nd Bn was chalking up these im ortant advances, our
1st Bn was by no meuns ildle. After having reduced the Schlisffen
Barracks the previous afternoon, our let Bm, at 2200 hours or A,ril
12th, had dispatched reconnaissance patrols from both "A™ and "C"
Cos to investigate the edge of the large woods to the east of the
barracke. These woods, situated on high ground, completely encire-
led Heilbronn from the esst. Actually, they consisted of a huge
ridge segmented by deep ravines , a picture of tortured topography
which,in our sector, rose sharply to a heighb of 373 meters. Almost
as 1f the Jerries had planned it that weay, the western slbpes of
this hill besides being exceedingly steep, were bare and opem. The
whole, with the addition of large quantities r;enemy mortars and
artillery, made a natural fortress seemingly iﬁp@asible to capture
in & frontal attack. That, however, was exs¢tly what we had been
called upon to do. Observed artillery fire had been pleguing our
troops from this wooded ridge and its clesrance was of paramount
importance before our advance could continue to the south.




%orking their way over open éround W¢th utmost cdutien and cnll~‘

ing upon every trick they had Learned in six months of unbrakan eom~‘ 

bat, the two pat¢ola reconnoitered,the ‘western ayrrosches to the

. woods under the very noses of the anemw and returned with ‘the infor-
mation thet esch of the hous@s ut the eﬁge of Lne uoo&s Was oaeupied

by'enemy troen&. : : ‘

o Prcbably realizing that this would be thelr last opgortunity to
use their artillery from these positions, the Krauts cqntinued to
pound elements of our lst Bn in and around the Barracks with a ter—
rific artillery and nebelwerfer barrage. The lst Ba took everything
the Jerries could throw at them. An then, at 0400 ‘hours, with "4"
Co on the right, "C" Co on the left and "B" Co dogging "C" Co. the
1st Bn moved stealthlly southeast under cover of darkness toward
the woods and high ground. : S

By 0615 hours, "C" Co had entered the woods at & point several
hundred yards north of the Heilbronn-Donnbronn road snd was con-
tinuing east towsrd the Concentration Camp,some 700 yards agead,
against only light resistance. :

"A" Co, advancing down the rodd, however, met much more deter-
mined opposition in the form of machine-gun fire and a road block
at the edge of the woods. Despite these obstacles, "A" Co maintained
the pace of the advance and by 0900 hours had cleared the road block
and pushed 500 yards intoe the woods. -

By 1050 hours, "C" Co had drivenm to a point just’southeast of
the Concentration Camp while "A' Co had clearad the southwestern
neck of the woods along the “highway and was about bo bxeak out 1nto
open ground. ' : :

With the western portion of the woods éieared'and'our left flank
gecure from anemy attack snd artillery fire, "B' Co, at 1500 hours,
launched a drive to selze the town of Flein and hlgh ground to the
southesst while “C" Co contluued to sweep the woods eastward to our
Regimentsal boundary. i : :

The Krauts made a valiant effort to hold Flein sgainst the per-
sistent pressure of our "B" Co men, emploging ertillery, mortar and
tank fire in an attempt to stop our advance. But by 1720 hours.”"B"
Co had flanked the hill guarding the approsches to Flein from the

north and at 1800 hours the Jerries began & generul withdrawal aout#—
o Tk ' et '




eastward frow the hown, spaeded J‘?thst aeurata fire of our artil;ony
. Our lst Ba lost no time in following up the retraﬁting enemy. Hy ;
1900 h@urn, "B" (o had advunaed to positionn southwest of Flein

~and was preceeding toward the edgt of the woods into which the enamy 3
‘had been withdrawing. "A" Co slashed svuthwest from the edge of the
woods and by'aloo hours had entered Flein without opposition. "¢ |
o O out:osted high ground along Schweinsberg Biﬂga in the woods north-
~ east of Flein, ‘after which the lst Bn dug-in for the night. ‘

~ Our FW toll for the period established a new record for CT-399
with 270 "Supermen“ captured. The FW's, representing the battle-
groups Krebs, Prior and Mokros, swelled our Regimental total to

2271 for 164 days of combat.

- Go "G" was the first to continue the 2nd Ba's attack on April
l4th. Surging forward st 0615 hours from positions gained under
cover of darkness approximately 500 yards northwest of Talheim, "G"
Co had reached the northern oubskirts of town by 0650 hours. The
advance on Talheim was a fight all the way. The enemy had prepared
& crossfire machine-gun defense perimeter around the southern edge
of the town with at least two machine gune firing from the pateh
of woods to the moutheast, one from a vineyard to the south and
anctherafrom a field to the southwest. Fifty and eighty milimeter
mortar fire backed up the Krauts holding the northern end of town
with upnsually heavy fire concontrations which kept the "G" Co
men hugging the groupd. From further south, 105mm shells hit the
bridge in the canter of Talbeim and fell accurately ﬁn the import-
; an@ road junction on the western side of town.

In the meanwhile, "gp" Co, who had started moving south toward
Talheim at 0618 hours, had reached the medieval Canlile one kilometer
northeast of the town 42 minutes later. Striking across a vineyard
and thrcugh an orchard toward a Jjunctionm with "G" Co for a combined
assault on Talheim, the "E" Co men by 083%0 hours had advenced to a
point 300 yards north of the "G" Co positions by the time "G" Co
had fought their way to the northern end of Talheim. With the com-
bined sttack now in full swing, the Krauﬁs began to give ground
more rapidly and by 0915 hours, "E" gnd “G" Cos were in full pos~
session of Talheim. ' )

At 1100 hours, "pv Coy in Pn reserve, moved to Flein.




: "G” Qo diapatohed patrolz o Lnutfcn at 1139 hours. Thn patro&urn.
found the Fremch in possession of the town which extended on both
sides of the river. But the French only held the town while the
Jerrios eqntrolod the ground betwaen,Talhsim and Lauffen,

A% 1700 hours, “E" and “G" Gos continued their advance toward
the 2nd Bn and regimontal objeativeﬂ. "E" Co moving southeast to clea
the pntch of woads some 600 yards from Talheim and "G" Co proceding |
southwest to cut the Lnuffen—lllﬂfeld road. By 1800 hours, "G" Co
had reached thelr objective and g Co was making good progress
through the woads when they were halted bx“thc Jerries upon attempt-
: ing to cross open ground. Sustained arﬁiliery concentrations now
began to fall along our entire 2nd Bn front and "E" and "G" Cos were
ordered to withdraw to the vicinity of Talheim for the night.

Our 1st Bn launched their attack at 0600 hours. Leaving Flein to
be occupied by "BY Co who went into Battalion reserve at 0730 hours,
A" Co passed through the "B™ Co positions ab 0635 hours and contin-
ued soubtheast along the Flein-Ilsfeld road. In the narrow waist of
the woods two kilometers soubheast of Flein, however, they encount-
ered two road blocks defended by about 60 Krauts. The enemy, a rear \
guard to cover the withdrawal of an estimated 200 -300 Jerries seen
falling back on Ilsfeld, fought furiously to delay the "A" Co ad-
vance. Four machine guns emplaced along the road leading from the
woods aud henvy small arms fire from the 60 entrenﬁhed Krauts,
pinned &own the "A" Co men, making further pragless impossible, -
Artillery and 50 rounda of 8P fire was finally placed on the road
blocks and the wooded area to the southeast. But it was 1760 hours
before the Krauts were driven from their pOBitiaﬁa and "A" Co was
able to continue their advance along the road leading southeast |
skirting the edge of the woods to their objective at grid 5093541.
One hour later, the “A" Co men had reached this objective.

Co "C",on the left flank, joined the 1lst Bn drive at 0700 hours.
Leaving positions on high ground in the woods northeast of Flein, |
nan o continued southward through the woods with’the mission of |
meeting "A" Co at grid S093541, the extreme southern edge of the |
woods. The Untergruppenbach~ Heilbronn road was crossed at 0800
hours and the advance continued slowly over the extremely rough,

forested,terrgin. By 1436 hours,"G" Co, hnd reached a point hwe |
sk, | g ‘ ”




‘7kilometarg due weat of Uhtcrgrunpcnbaeh, mecting anly~light Uneny
resistance, Im attempting to gwing southwostward thraugh th& waodn
toward a junctlan with "A" Co which would pocket the Jerriea i:.thn
1st Ba nectar, resigtance o the ney Co adVanca ‘began to stiffen
ccnsiderably. Upan reaching the ﬁntargruppenbach—malhaim road, "Cv
Co hit a strongly defcn&ad road-block. Elnmy arbillery fire was
added to the fierce small arms opposition. Despite our vnliant ef-

forts to dispexse bhe Jarries bhay eantinusd to hold up the Y Go"

men. :

While this fight was raging. a reiaforced AT plntoen from our
lst Ba took up positlons southwest of Bannbronn to blcck any attempt
by the enemy to withdraw from the byapassed town,

- After three and ome half hours of indecisive battling, however,
"C" Co was still stymied short of their objective. Ik was now 1800
hours and we were forced to send "B" Co to aid the hard pressed "C"
Co. Reinforced, our mem fimally smashed enemy resistance at 2240
hours after which "C" Co, less ome platoon which was left im pos=—
itions =zouth of the Untergruppembach-Talheim road, withdrew to re-
- serve ositioms in Fleim. "B" Co also left a platoom at that point,
the remainder of the "B" Co men Joimimg "A" Co om the southern edge
~ of the woods. The lst Bm mow paused in their drive southward for
the night. ,

One hundred and fortydfaur Pi's were taken during the dav's fur-
ious fighting, increasing our Regmmenbal total to 2415,

OQur Regimental CP moved from HeiIbrann to Sontheim. opening at
1900 hours. ;

A% 0135 hours of April 15th, WG and AT Plats from our lsb Bn
relieved "A" Co, holding positions at a cross~ﬁoads between the
Talheim«Untergruppenbach and F1e1n~Ilﬁfald roads. "A" Go, thereuyon.
moved southward to the southerm edge of the woods northwest of
Wistenhausen, reaohing the objective 1ine without opposition. Qc
"B", who had taken up positions om am extemsion of "A" Co's luﬂt
flank the previous night, also pushed south to the objeetive‘li#@f
eagt of "A™ Co. Followimg this move, the "B" Co platéon‘which
had been attached to "C¥ (o reverted to "B" Co combtrol. =

A% 1620 hours, "A" Co, motorized, moved northesst to Untergrup-
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»pmhmh to mliwa etumnm af *mo 59‘7% Inranﬁry who ha& wcuwie&
. the tawn aarlxer in the dop. Eﬂlief wss completed at 1736 hauru. o
,:after whieh “A" Qo aiapatahwd a patrax to Wﬂntenh&unnn. aao mile
to the soubheast. The patrol found the town oacupied by the Jarrioa 4
who opened up with.maanine~gun rira. e i :
o eERegh r%inzcreed by'tha 1st Bn &% Plﬂt, h@ld bhair r&aetvo ponui
4 1tiana 1n.ﬁlaia. el ‘ L
. Ralenﬁlasaly*prubing qnemy &erensiva pcaitionn in sn uttempt te ’
find thelr weak spots, the 2nd Bn at 1445 hours diapatchud B task
force couaigting of two rifle squads from "i* Co and two nquudg.fram.
"G" Co pupported by two tanks und two TD's with the mission of _
clearing Vhe two patches of woods southesst of Talbeim. If contect
could not be made, the task force was to procede to Hehogach and
then continue southeast to Ilsfeld. In the most northerly pateh of
woods, the task force discovered Fifty enemy dead from the previcus
day's heavy ﬁighting; Crossing the open field between the two wouds,
the task force dimcovered 12 enemy in houses. The twalve Jerries were
taken prisoners and the advance continued inva the puteh of woods
due nerth of Schozach.
These woods proved deamerted, but upon reachking the southern
line of trees at 1615 hours, the enemy began pcuring 50mm end 80mm
mortar snd 75mm srtillery snd mschine-gun fire on our troops from
emplacemsnts within Schosach. With their mission of clearing the
wooda aaammplimhed. however, the task force rebturnmed to Talheim.
At 1500 hours, ¥ Co moved from Flein to Wﬁlhaim. elaaina nt'
155C hours without imeident.
“iY o Joined their plutoon hwiding pOﬁihiunﬁ oK ﬁh« m&uﬁhexn
edge of the woods northesst of Schosach at 185% nours.
G Co shifted southesst Ifrom Tealheim Yo tne‘paﬁahwafv#aaaﬂ due
north of Schosech st 2045 hours. Shortly sfter arriving on their
new posltions, G Co heard sounds of eneany movement in Schosach
snd dispesbehed & pstrol to the outekirte of town o 1nfae$igata. No
slgn of the enemy could be found, however, an the patrel returned
at 0520 hours of April 16th.




